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hn Charles Faris, M.D. }¢ ~L3FI2
803 Lyndhurst Avenue

Winston-Salem, NC 27103
Gentlemen:

SUBJECT: INSPECTION REPCRT NO. 32-19457-01/87-01 AND
REQUEST FOR SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE

Thank you for your response of January 12, 1988, to our Notice of Violation
issued on December 23, 1987, concerning activities conducted at your facility
under NRC License No. 32-19457-01,

Your response to Violation A.2 is satisfactory and meets the requirements of
10 CFR 2,201, However, your response to Violation A,1 is not satisfactory.
Violation A.1 concerned a failure to perform a linearity test of your dose
calibrator during the first quarter of 1987, Your statement that four tests
were performed between 11/86 and 10/87 does not necessarily fulfill the
quarterly requirements. We interpret quarterly frequencies as within every
three months or as within a calendar quarter. Please respond with a
committment to one of these criteria, as part of your corrective action.

Based on your recent statement that generutors are only received dry and only
in Worth Carolina, Violation B is amonded to delete reference to

10 CFR 20,205(b) and is restated in the Erclosure as a records violation under
your License Condition 14, Please respond to our amended Notice of Violation,
accordingly.

We will review implementation of your corrective actions during a future
inspection, Should you have any questions concerning this letter, pleace
contact us,

Sincerely,
ORIGINAL SIGNED
BY
W E. CLINE
William E. Cline
Nuclear Materials Safety and
Safequards Branch

Division of Radiation Safety
and Safequards

Enclosure:
Notice of Violation (Amended)
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